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Nashvill e, Tennessee, for the petitioner Louise Q
Synons, Esquire, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, for the
r espondent

Bef or e: Judge Koutras
Statement of the Case

Thi s case concerns a proposal for assessnent of civil
penalty filed by the petitioner against the respondent on July 6,
1981, seeking a civil penalty in the amount of $170 for an
al l eged violation of mandatory safety standard 30 CFR 77. 1605(k),
as detailed in a section 104(a) citation, No. 981185, served on
t he respondent by MSHA inspector Alex R Sarke, Jr., on January
23, 1981. The condition or practice described by the inspector
on the face of the citation is as foll ows:

The berns provided al ong the el evated roadway | eadi ng
to the mne were not as high as the axle of the Iargest
pi ece of equi prment using the roadway in that 3

| ocations along the roadway have berns with [ ess than
22 inches which is the height of the axle of the

Petti bone tractor used at the mne. Location No. 1 is
directly across fromthe bat hhouse and an area of 29
feet at this location has no berm or guardrail
Quardrails were installed at one tine, but they have
been di sl odged. Location No. 2 is three tenths of a
mle fromthe bat hhouse and an area of 22 feet
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has a bermof 6 to 8 inches. Location No. 3 is
1.6 mles fromthe bathhouse and an acci dent has
occurred in this area in that three worknmen went
over the berm and down under the el evated roadway
in a passenger car. The height of the berm
provided in this area is 16 inches for a distance
of 29 feet. This is where the car went over
t he berm

Respondent filed its answer on July 10, 1981, denying the
al | eged viol ation, and subsequently, by letter filed August 28,
1981, petitioner's counsel advised that the parties had conferred
with each other and believe that the material facts are not in
di spute and can be stipulated, and that the case may be decided
on notions for sunmary deci sion without the necessity for a
hearing on the nerits. Subsequently, on Decenber 7, 1981, the
parties filed a joint stipulation, setting forth the follow ng:

1. Nunber 32 Mne of United States Steel Corporation's
(USS) Lynch District is subject to the jurisdiction of
the M ne Safety and Heal th Adm ni stration

2. The proceedings in Docket No. KENT 81-136 are
properly before the adm nistrative | aw judge.

3. USSis a large operator and paynent of a civil
penalty will not affect its ability to stay in
busi ness.

4. Citation No. 981185 was issued by a duly authorized
representative of the Departnent of Labor

5. Citation No. 981185 alleges a violation of 30 CFR
77.1605(Kk).

6. The standard cited states, "Berns or guards shal
be provided on the outer bank of el evated roadways."

7. Citation No. 981185 states that there were berns
al ong the roadway except at Location No. 1 where the
guardrail was di sl odged.

8. USS clains that it was in the process of replacing
the guardrail when the citation was issued; the nine
i nspector saw no evidence of this activity.

9. The MSHA Surface Manual at page 111-338 requires
that berns nust be as high as the axle of the |argest
pi ece of equi prent using the roadway.

10. An accident in which a car went over the 16-inch
berm occurred on January 22, 1981

11. It has not been determ ned that a berm of 22
i nches woul d have had any different effect on the fact
situation of January 22, 1981, than a berm of 16



i nches.
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Motions for Summary Deci si on

By nmotion and supporting argunments filed Decenber 21, 1981,
petitioner noves for sunmary decision in its favor. |n support
of its notion, petitioner asserts that with regard to | ocation
No. 1 along the elevated roadway which was cited, the parties
have stipulated that no bermwas at that |ocation and that the
guardrail was dislodged and the inspector saw no evidence of the
claimthat respondent was in the process of replacing the
guardrail at the tinme the citation issued. Respondent maintains
that it has established a violation as to that |ocation since no
berm or guardrail was present.

Wth regard to the remaining two |locations cited by the
i nspector, petitioner argues that the inspector found a violation
on the basis of the inadequacy of the existing berns. Petitioner
asserts that in its interpretation of section 77.1605(k), MSHA
applies the definition of an adequate "berm found in 30 CFR
77.2(d), which defines "berm to nean "a pile or nound of
mat eri al capable of restraining a vehicle". Petitioner asserts
further that as a mni num standard, MSHA policy requires berns to
be "at |east as high as the m d-axle height of the |argest
vehicl e using the roadway". That policy is set forth in MSHA' s
March 9, 1978, Surface Manual, as well as in a June 30, 1972,
publication of the Bureau of M nes, Department of the Interior
whi ch contains an interpretative "application"” of identical berm
standards found in Parts 55, 56, and 57, Title 30, Code of
Federal Regul ations. The Surface Manual "policy" dealing with
section 77.1605(k), provides as follows at pg. I11-338:

"Berni as used in this requirenent neans a pile or
mound of material at |east axle high to the |argest

pi ece of equi pnment using such roadway, and as wi de at

t he base as the normal angle of repose provides. \Where
guardrails are used in lieu of berns, they shall be of
substantial construction

The "policy" application set forth in the Bureau of M nes
publication at pg. 9-5is as foll ows:

Bernms shall be at |east as high as the nid-axle height
of the largest vehicle using the roadway. They need
not be continuous where drai nage and snow renoval may
constitute a problem Guards of posts and railings
shal | be substantially equivalent as a restraining
nmedi um as berns of earth or waste rock

Petitioner argues that the respondent has not argued that it
was unaware of the aforenentioned | ongstandi ng MSHA policy.
Further, while there were nmounds or berns of earth, rock, or
other materials along the roadway in question (except for
location No. 1), in the judgnent of the inspector these berns
were i nadequate to neet the definition of
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"berns” in the "regulations”". This is because |ocation No. 2 had
a 6-to-8-inch berm location No. 3 had a 16-inch berm and the
hei ght of the axle of the [ argest piece of equipnment using the
roadway was 22 inches. |In support of its case, petitioner cites
the case of Secretary of Labor v. Heldenfels Brothers Inc., 2
MBHC 1143, Docket Nos. CENT 79-280-M and CENT 79-235-M (1980),
where the Judge affirned a violation of the bermrequirenments of
30 CFR 55.9-22, based on an inspector's opinion that the berns
provi ded were not sufficient to restrain the vehicles using the
el evated roadway. Petitioner points out that in Heldenfels, the
Judge rejected the operator's argunment that there was no

vi ol ati on since the existing bermwas approximately 18 inches
high. Looking at the definition of "bernt in the applicable
regul ati ons, the Judge found that there could be no bermw thin
the nmeaning of the regulations if the mound of material along the
roadway was i ncapable of restraining the vehicles using the

r oadway.

Concedi ng that the referenced MSHA policy and guidelines are
not mandatory requirenents inposed on a mne operator, petitioner
nonet hel ess argues that in the case at hand, while it would
appear fromthe wording of the citation that the inspector
consi dered the general MSHA policy in finding that the bernms were
i nadequate to restrain vehicles using the roadway i n question
such a reference by the inspector to the inspector's manual and
agency guidelines is not an illegal or arbitrary practice as |ong
as the inspector's application of these guidelines and policies
to his interpretation of the cited standard is not contradictory
to the intent and cl ear neaning of the standard, Secretary of
Labor v. Enpire Energy Corporation, 1 MSHC 1751, Docket No. DENV
78-442-P (1979).

Petitioner argues further that the clear intent of the cited
standard is to prevent vehicles in use from going over the edges
of el evated roadways, and since road conditions and the speed of
vehicles may vary, it may be unreasonable to attenpt to i nsure by
testing that a bermbe sufficient to restrain a vehicle under al
ci rcunmst ances. Assunming normal conditions, petitioner asserts
that the height of the axle of the vehicle is a reasonable,
wor kabl e, and clear guide in estinmating whether or not a berm
woul d be an adequate restraint since the wording of the
"regul ation" indicates that the adequacy of berns is tied to the
nature of the vehicles used on the roadway.

In the instant case, petitioner asserts that the inspector
was aware that a 16-inch berm had proved inadequate to restrain a
passenger vehicle at one roadway |ocation. Petitioner also
asserts that whether or not a 22-inch berm woul d have been
effective is not known, because the facts and conditions of the
acci dent are unknown; but the prior accident is a factor to
consider in support of the inspector's determ nation that the
exi sting berns were inadequate. Under the circunstances,
petitioner concludes that the respondent cannot show that the
i nspector was arbitrary and unreasonable in his application of
the cited standard in this case, and that petitioner therefore is
entitled to summary decision as a matter of |aw
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Inits notion for summary deci sion, respondent asserts that since
it is clear that berns were present along the roadway in
guestion, the alleged violation necessarily turns on the belief
by the inspector that the berns provided were not as high as the
axl e of the largest piece of equipnment using the roadway. Since
there is no | egal requirenment that berns be as high as the axle
of any particul ar piece of equipnment, respondent maintains that
the citation fails to state a violation and nust be vacat ed.

In support of its case, respondent points out that a bermis
defined by 30 CFR 077.2(d) as a pile or nmound of nateri al
capabl e of restraining a vehicle, and that the cited standard
contains no requirenments pertaining to di nensions of berns, nor
does it specify materials to be used in constructing berns.
Since the standard addresses neither the design, construction nor
installation of bernms, respondent argues that the definition of
"berni does little to clarify the standard by referring
generically to a vehicle, and taken together, the regul atory
bases for the contested citation do not place the respondent on
notice as to what is required in the way of berns on el evated
roadways; the regul ations are vague and unenforceabl e.
Respondent mai ntai ns that such vagueness cannot be cured by
publication of an internal MSHA policy manual which sets forth
agency guidelines for interpretation and enforcenent of
standards. Petitioner admts that such policies are not
mandat ory requirements upon respondent, yet it refers to the
di sputed policy as a mninum standard and suggests that
respondent is obligated to conply because it did not argue that
it was unaware of the policy. If the policy cannot be enforced
agai nst respondent, whether respondent had know edge of the
policy is clearly irrel evant.

Wth regard to the petitioner's assertion that the inspector
made an i ndependent evaluation as to whether the berns were
capabl e of restraining a vehicle, respondent observes that the
i nspector just "mechanically applied the internal MSHA policy"”.
Respondent believes that a policy which assunes that a bermthe
hei ght of an axle of a vehicle is capable of restraining that
vehicle no matter what the speed or weight of the vehicle is
i nherently ridiculous. By mechanically applying such an
arbitrary policy, respondent suggests that an operator could
construct berms six feet high, but only one inch thick or the
operator could construct its bernms of feathers. Since petitioner
concedes that it nmay be unreasonable to test the sufficiency of a
bermto restrain a vehicle, respondent asserts that is an inplied
concession that there may be times when no bermis capabl e of
restraining a vehicle since every driver knows that under sone
ci rcunst ances the berns and guardrails al ong public highways may
hel p keep an autonobile on the road, but will not stand up to a
direct blow at excessive speed.

Finally, respondent maintains that the present berm standard
is so vague and anbi guous that it cannot be enforced, and that
MSHA cannot correct this problem by publishing interna
guidelines for its inspectors. |If MSHA intends to properly put
operators on notice as to precisely what is required to conply



with the bermstandard, it must engage in rule naking to properly
promul gate regul ations. It cannot, w thout notice to and
opportunity for comrent by the operators, enforce an
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arbitrary requirenent that berns nust be as high as the axle of
the | argest vehicle using the roadway. Respondent argues that
the fallacy of such a unilateral action and the reason for the
required input frominterested parties are abvi ous when the

foll owi ng questions are considered. Does "largest" vehicle mean
the tallest in ternms of axle height or heaviest or, perhaps,
greatest in overall dinensions? Wy should height be the
determ native criterion when a relatively |low, thick berm m ght
function better than a high, shallow barrier? Should the berm be
designed to stop all vehicles, regardl ess of their speed? MSHA' s
arbitrary criterion of axle height seemingly fails to take any of
these matters into consideration. Since MSHA devel oped the
criterion unilaterally and announced it internally, it cannot be
consi dered a "m ni mum st andard" as petitioner contends.

Accordi ngly, respondent maintains that the citation should be
vacated because it fails to allege a violation of a standard, and
nmerely alleges a violation of an internal MSHA policy. The
policy is not binding on operators and is so far fromthe stated
requi renents of the standard that it does not clarify or
interpret the standard. Since the policy inposes arbitrary and
capricious new requi renents and has not been subject to rule
maki ng, it cannot be treated as a standard.

Fi ndi ngs and Concl usi ons
Fact of Violation

In this case, the respondent is charged with one violation
of the provisions of section 77.1605(k). However, the citation
details three specific | ocations where the inspector believed the
bernms whi ch were present were inadequate. The first |ocation had
no bernms at all, and since a guardrail which had been installed
at that |ocation had been di sl odged, the inspector apparently
took the position that no bermwas present. The height of the
exi sting berns at the other two |locations were | ess than 22
inches. Since the axle height of a tractor used at the mne is
22 inches, the inspector obviously applied this axle height as
t he standard whi ch he believed the respondent should have used in
the construction of the required berms. Although it is not
altogether clear fromthe stipulations entered into by the
parties, for the purposes of my decision in this case | wll
assune that the tractor nmentioned in the citation by the
i nspector is in fact the |argest piece of equi pment using the
roadway in question, and that the inspector relied on this
"axl e-height" test as detailed in the MSHA policy guidelines
referred to by the parties in their respective supporting
argunents when he issued the citation.

Al t hough one woul d think that the intent of section

77.1605(k) is to prevent nen and equi pnent driving al ong an

el evat ed roadway from goi ng over the el evated and unprotected
edge of the roadway, the broad and general |anguage of the
standard, as enbellished by the regulatory definition of the term
"berni, |eaves nmuch to the inmagination. The |anguage of the
standard sinply requires that bernms or guards "be provided". The
term"bernt is defined by section 77.2(d), as "a pile or nound of



mat eri al capable of restraining a vehicle”, but the term "guard"
is not further defined. The standard has been the source of nuch
litigation and interpretation, and a representative sanpling

fol |l ows bel ow.
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In MBHA v. W B. Coal Conpany, LAKE 79-218, January 14, 1981, the
operator was charged with a violation of section 77.1605(k)
because an inspector believed that the existing berns which
ranged fromsix inches to 24 inches along a 50-to-60 foot stretch
of roadway were inadequate. The operator testified that he was
never advised that bernms were required to be of any specific
hei ght, but that prior to the issuance of the citation he had
been advi sed by an inspector that three feet would be adequate to
restrain a vehicle. The inspector who cited the violation
applied MSHA's "policy" that berns should be the height of the
axl e on the | argest machi ne which travels a roadway, which woul d
have been 42 inches. |In affirmng the citation, the Judge ruled
that MSHA's policy of axle height, or 42 inches, was not binding
on the operator because the operator had no know edge of the
requi renent. However, the Judge ruled that inplicit in the
standard is a requirenment that the berns be of reasonabl e hei ght
to offer protection, and he relied on the definition found in
section 77.2(d) for reaching this concl usion.

In MSHA v. Heldenfels Brothers, Inc., DENV 79-575-M the
Judge affirned a violation of the berm"requirenents of section
55.9-22", and while he recognized that the standard does not
provide criteria by which the m ni mum hei ght of berns m ght be
det erm ned, he nonet hel ess accepted the inspector's "rule of
thunb" to the effect that a bermnust be as high as the axle of
the | argest vehicle using the road, and ruled as follows at pg.
855, FMBHRC, Vol. 2, No. 4, April 1980:

The | argest vehicles using this section of roadway were
Respondent's scrapers. These scrapers had a whee
hei ght of approximately 6 feet and, therefore, an axle
hei ght of approximately 2 feet high--1 foot |ower than
t he hei ght which would be required if the rule of thunb
appl i ed.

The inspector, in relating experiences with scrapers
simlar to those used by Respondent and with ridge rows
of different heights, stated that the scrapers would go
over "a two foot deal all the tinme."” Although the
ridge rows were not of exactly the same materi al
consi stency, and size of the berns, the inspector
obvi ously was knowl edgeabl e concerning the type of berm
t hat woul d contain equi pnent used at the mne

In MSHA v. Bishop Coal Conpany, WEVA 80-41, July 14, 1980,
the Judge rejected the notion that small piles of rocks or debris
al ong an el evated roadway constituted a berm He ruled that the
requi renent of section 77.1605(k), that berms or guards shall be
provi ded nmeans that they nmust be adequate to prevent overtravel
of the outer bank. The facts of the case as reported by the
Judge indicated that a truck had gone over a bank at a dunping
| ocation, and he obviously concluded that the piles of rock or
debris were inadequate. Interestingly, while the inspector and
m ne superintendent disagreed as to whether even the bern which
was installed for abatenment would be sufficient to prevent the
occurrence of the accident, both agreed that under certain



ci rcunstances the berm woul d be sufficient.
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In MBHA v. Texas Uilities Generating Conpany, DENV 78-487-P
April 5, 1979, the Judge affirmed a violation of section
77.1605(k), for failure to provide berns or guards on a portion
of a haulroad. The inspector who issued the citation was of the
opi nion that the bernms would not prevent a haul age truck which
was out of control fromrunning off the roadway, but he indicated
that they m ght be of assistance in guiding a truck, thereby
keeping it on the roadway.

In MBHA v. El Paso Rock Quarries, Inc., DENV 79-139-M
Decenmber 17, 1979, the Judge affirmed a violation of section
56.9-22; and while he rejected the inspector's notion that berns
woul d stop a fully | oaded truck, he did accept the fact that they
woul d serve as a visual warning as to the location of the edge of
t he roadway, and could possibly slow a truck down enough to give
the driver sufficient tine to junp.

As noted in the foregoing summary of prior decision dealing
with the bermstandard, there is no consistent application of the
standard, and this |leads ne to conclude that there is nmerit to
t he argunents advanced by the respondent in this case with regard
to its assertion that the |anguage of section 77.1605(k) is so
vague and broad that it fails to give an operator adequate notice
as to what is required for conpliance. One would think that
after all of the litigation generated by this standard, that NMSHA
woul d initiate appropriate rule-making with a view to anendi ng
t he present | anguage of the standard, or at |east publishing
specific criteria as part of the published standards for industry
gui dance, rather than relying on internal "policy" guidelines
which all to often are not conmunicated to a nine operator who is
expected to conply with those guidelines.

On the facts presented in this case, it seens clear to ne
that the inspector applied the literal requirements of MSHA' s
internal policy guidelines with regard to the height requirenents
for berms as if they were part of the published nandatory
standard, and petitioner's references in its supporting argunents
that he applied the "regul ati ons” | eads ne to concl ude t hat
petitioner also believes that an MSHA i nspector has the authority
or discretion to expand upon the plain nmeaning of a standard by
i ncorporating unpublished policies as if they were nmandatory
requirenents. | reject petitioner's semantical assertions that
the inspector's application of MSHA's internal policy guidelines
were not arbitrary and did not contradict the intent and cl ear
meani ng of the standard. To the contrary, | agree with the
respondent's argunments that the inspector obviously applied the
MSHA "axl e-height" guidelines in this case. He obviously
determ ned that the height of the axle on the tractor was 22
i nches, and they any bernms constructed on an el evated roadway
where that tractor or other equipnment were likely to be used
woul d al so have to be constructed at a m ni mrum hei ght of 22
inches. It seens to ne that if an inspector can apply such a
sinmpl e mechanical fornmula to a regulation requiring berns, then
it should be a sinple matter for MSHA to indul ge in rul e-nmaking
adopting such an application in a published regul ation that woul d
apply across the board to all m ne operators.
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The parties are in agreenent that MSHA's internal policy
gui del i nes do not have the force and effect of a published
regul atory mandatory safety standard, and that a m ne operator is
not obliged to follow them Petitioner's argunments that the
respondent was aware of these policies is immaterial and
irrelevant. The fact that a mne operator is aware of a policy
that is not a mandatory standard does not subject that operator
to a civil penalty assessnment for violation of the policy. 1In ny
vi ew, MSHA should concentrate its efforts into pronul gating
standards which are clear and to the point, rather than indul ging
in the pronul gation of policy menoranda which all to often | ead
t o ambi guous and i nconsi stent enforcenent.

In view of the foregoing, and after careful consideration of
t he argunents advance by the parties in this case, | conclude and
find that the respondent has the better part of the argunent.
adopt and accept the respondent’'s argunents in support of its
case, and reject those advance by the petitioner. In short, |
conclude and find that the inspector exceeded his authority and
acted arbitrarily in adopting MSHA's policy guidelines as if they
were part and parcel of section 77.1605(k). | further conclude
and find that the present |anguage found in section 77.1605(k),
is so vague and anbi guous as to render it unenforceable,
particul arly when MSHA attenpts to enbelish it through policy
gui del i nes adopted internally rather than through the rul e- nmaking
process provided for in the Act. In these circunstances, |
further conclude and find that the citation in question should be
VACATED.

ORDER

On the basis of the foregoing findings and conclusions, IT
'S ORDERED that Citation No. 981185, issued on January 23, 1981,
citing an alleged violation of 30 CFR 77.1605(k) is VACATED, and
this proceeding is D SM SSED

Ceorge A. Koutras
Admi ni strative Law Judge



